IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 705920

ROCIO TRUJILLO, an unmarried woman,

Appellant,

VS.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC; Washington Corporation

Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROCIO TRUJILLO, PRO SE 33725 – 32ND AVE. SW FEDERAL WAY, WA 98023-7723 (206) 892-8010

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the trial court commit reversible error by ruling the foreclosure proceeding was conducted lawfully even though, before recording the notice of trustee's sale (NOTS), NWTS never received proof that Wells was the owner of the Note?
- 2. Did NWTS violate its duty of good faith under RCW 61.24.010(4) by recording a NOTS after receiving a declaration from Wells stating Wells was the actual holder of the Note?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Uncontested Factual Background

Arboretum Mortgage Corp. (Arboretum) originated the mortgage loan on Marcy 29, 2006. CP 2. The mortgage note (Note) named Arboretum as the Note holder and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (MERS) as the beneficiary of the deed of trust (DOT) solely as nominee for Arboretum, its successors and assigns. CP 3.

On an undetermined date, a date that fell between April 1, 2006 and May 31, 2006, Arboretum sold the mortgage loan---Note and DOT--- to Wells Fargo Bank, NA (Wells). On June 1, 2006, Wells sold the loan to Fannie Mae and retained the loan-servicing rights.

I defaulted on the mortgage loan on November 1, 2011. On May 30, 2012, as required by RCW 61.24.030(8), NWTS transmitted the notice of default ("NOD") to me by both first class and certified mail. To comply with RCW 61.24.030(8)(l), NWTS provided the name and address of the owner of the Note in Section K of the NOD. That Section lists the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) as the owner of the Note. RP 14: 15-19.

By May 30, 2012, at the latest, NWTS knew Wells was not the owner of the Note. On July 10, 2012, 41 days after transmitting the NOD that listed Fannie Mae as the owner of the Note, NWTS recorded the NOTS.

Fannie Mae remained the owner of the Note, uninterrupted, until at least June 4, 2013.

B. Procedural History

On May 31, 2013, the Honorable Judge Beth Andrus heard Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. RP 6: 5-7. During the hearing, Respondent accurately represented that I had alleged several bases for the complaint: (1) that the trustee issued a NOD before it was appointed the trustee; (2) that, after *Bain*, the Mortgage Electronic Registrations Systems, Inc. (MERS) cannot be the beneficiary of the DOT; and (3) NWTS breached its duty of good faith under RCW 61.24.010(4) by recording, transmiting and serving the NOTS after receiving a declaration from Wells stating that Wells was the actual holder of the Note. The third of these three issues, alone, is the foundation for this appeal.

At the hearing, I claimed NWTS had to obtain proof that Wells was the *owner* of the Note before it would be authorized by RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) to record, transmit or serve the NOTS. RP 17: 3-8.

Respondent countered by claiming my position was a misstatement of Washington law. RP 12: 1-8.

After the trial court acknowledged that the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) uses the word *owner*, the following colloquy took place between the court and Counsel for Respondent:

THE COURT: - - but then it says that the Trustee may rely on an affidavit from someone saying they're the holder of the Note as prima facie evidence that they have the right to initiate a non-judicial foreclosure.

MR. KATZ: It's - - that sentence, that first sentence in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), does create confusion.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. KATZ: But the reliance has been on the actual definition of a Beneficiary under 61.24.005(2), that it's the holder of the Note. And I think, Your Honor, before the foreclosure crisis, if you will, happened in the United States, the terminology, at least in Washington, is intermixed, that an owner, that the holder of a Note must also be the owner of a Note.

That contradicts the system in the United States set up by the government with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac who purchased these Notes on the secondary money market which, in this case, Fannie Mae purchased the plaintiff's Note. And our briefing will demonstrate to the Court that someone can have a contractual interest and be the owner of a Note versus a party who has holder status under the Uniform Commercial Code that's entitled to enforce the Note. And that's the typical way Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac operate through a servicer who then becomes the holder of the Note and conducts the foreclosure.

THE COURT: But from your client's perspective - - because it seems to me that Ms. Trujillo is making an interesting argument that under the language of our Deed of Trust Act, must the owner be the holder of the Note?

MS. TRUJILLO: Right.

THE COURT: That's the argument she's making. And that's really an issue, I think, is between her and Wells Fargo. For your client's perspective, the statute says that a declaration by the beneficiary made under penalty of perjury stating that the Beneficiary is the actual holder of the Promissory Note shall be sufficient proof for the trustee as required under this section.

So Wells Fargo may not have the legal authority, as you're arguing, but nevertheless there may not be anything the Trustee did that's illegal because the statute says it has a right to rely on a representation made by Wells Fargo.

RP 12: 20 through 14: 14.

Of course, Respondent's Counsel agreed with the courts thinking on this point.

Then, after confirming that the NOD indicated Fannie Mae was the *owner* of the Note (RP 14: 15-19), and that NWTS had received a declaration from Wells made under penalty of perjury stating that Wells was the actual *holder* of the Note (RP 15: 6-10), the court offered the following:

THE COURT: Okay. This language of the statute, however, says - - oh, I see. So the language of subsection (a) says the Trustee must have proof that the Beneficiary is the owner of the promissory Note.

MS. TRUJILLO: Right.

THE COURT: Then it goes on to say a declaration by the Beneficiary made under penalty of perjury stating that the Beneficiary is the actual holder of the Promissory Note shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection. In other words, the first sentence, it seems very unambiguous, this is what proof needs to be presented. But then the legislature, in its infinite wisdom, has muddied the waters by saying Trustee - - all they have to do is give you a signed affidavit under penalty of perjury saying we are the actual holder of the Note.

And Wells did that. And so can they be held - - can Northwest be held legally liable if they received what the legislature said is sufficient? It, you know, it could very well be that Wells doesn't have the authority to foreclose because it doesn't own the Note, but that's a different issue then whether Northwest could be separately liable for issuing the Notice of Default or the Notice of Trustee Sale.

So I think I see your argument is - - I understand exactly where your argument is coming from because I think that you've got a textual basis for making the argument that you've made.

RP: 17: 15 through 18: 17.

Next, the court offered me one last chance to comment before issuing its ruling. RP 19: 25 through 20: 2. I repeated that Fannie Mae, not Wells, was the owner of my Note and that Wells was not the Beneficiary of the DOT. The court then made its ruling:

THE COURT: Well, and I appreciate the point that you're bringing up because this does raise a very interesting legal issue that I think, at least from my understanding, hasn't been resolved yet by our State Supreme Court.

But I agree with Northwest that they're not the real party in interest here. Your beef is really with Wells Fargo because -- and I'm not going to rule today on the legal argument because Wells Fargo hasn't asked me to rule that it can foreclose -- so that's going to be an issue that has to be reserved for a later date. Today, the only issue before me is whether you can recover monetary damages from Northwest for anything they did.

I'm going to grant the Motion to Dismiss against Northwest. You still have your claim pending against Wells Fargo. The Temporary Restraining Order still remains in effect. Wells Fargo cannot do a non-judicial foreclosure until the legal issues you're raising about the owner versus holder gets resolved. All right?

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A summary judgment is reviewed by an appellate court de novo. The court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court under CR 56(c), viewing the facts of the case and the reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Harrington v. Spokane County*, 128 Wn. App. 202 (2005).

The court is not authorized to dismiss a case on summary judgment if a genuine issue of material fact has been raised by the non-moving party. In determining whether a genuine issue of material fact has been raised, the court must view the evidence inferences therefrom in a light most favorably to the nonmoving party. *Barrie v. Hosts of America*, 94 Wn.2d 640 (1980),

A fact is material if the outcome of the case, in whole or in part, depends upon it. *Id.* If reasonable men could reach only one conclusion, no genuine issue of fact exists. *Id.*

When the appellate record consists entirely of written materials, the appellate court is in the same position as the trial court and reviews the record de novo. *Harrington v. Spokane Cty*.

Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Detention of Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d 789 (2002).

B. WELLS' DECLARATION DID NOT SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS OF RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) reads as follows:

That, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. A declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

The first sentence of .030(7)(a) requires the trustee to obtain proof that the beneficiary is the "owner" of the promissory note secured by the deed of trust before the trustee is authorized to record, transmit, or serve

the notice of trustee's sale. The language of the sentence is unambiguous. It is susceptible of only one reasonable interpretation: the trustee must have proof that the beneficiary of the DOT is the *owner* of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. The first sentence means the beneficiary of the DOT and the owner of the Note must be the same person.

The fact that the first sentence of (7)(a) establishes that the beneficiary of the DOT and owner of the Note must be the same person must be keep firmly in mind when the second sentence of (7)(a)---the only other sentence (7)(a) contains---is read. The second sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) states:

A declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

Remember, pursuant to the first sentence of (7)(a), the beneficiary of the DOT and the *owner* of the Note secured by the DOT must be the same person. Consequently, the portion of the second sentence of (7)(a) that reads "A declaration by the beneficiary" actually means "A declaration by the owner of the Note." Thus, the only person who can provide the declaration authorized by the second sentence of RCW

61.24.030(7)(a) is the owner of the Note (i.e., the beneficiary). If any declarant other than the owner of the Note provides a declaration, regardless of what the declaration states, the declaration cannot meet the requirements of (7)(a).

With utmost respect to the courts, the fact that the first sentence of (7)(a) establishes that the word "beneficiary" is a synonym for the clause "owner of any promissory notes or other obligations secured by the deed of trust" means that when the word "beneficiary" is used in the second sentence of (7)(a) in the phrase "A declaration by the beneficiary" in the second sentence of (7)(a), the statute is authorizing the trustee to accept a declaration from one person *only*---the "owner of any promissory notes or other obligations secured by the deed of trust (i.e., the beneficiary)."

This---that the "owner of any promissory notes or other obligations secured by the deed of trust (i.e., the beneficiary) is the only person from whom the trustee is authorized by (7)(a) to accept a declaration---is the central point that the trial court missed and that a whole line of cases in the Federal District Court for the Western District of Washington has missed over the past several years. As soon as this point is fully grasped, however, the "confusion" that the trial court and

Respondent's Counsel acknowledge at the summary judgment hearing disappears.

If anyone other than the *owner* of the promissory note (i.e., the Beneficiary) provides the declaration, the declaration, regardless of what it states, cannot meet the requirements of the second sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). Submission of such a declaration to the trustee, therefore, does not authorize the trustee to record, transmit or serve the NOTS.

In the case before this court, Wells was not the owner of the Note. The parties are not in dispute on this point. Accordingly, Wells' declaration, regardless of what it stated, did not satisfy the requirements of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). More importantly for the purposes of this appeal, before NWTS mailed the NOD, it knew Wells was not the owner of the Note.

NWTS was obligated to have proof that Wells was the owner of the Note before it recorded, transmitted, or served the NOTS. *Bain v. MERS*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 108, 285 P.3d 34(2012). Not only did NWTS fail to obtain proof that Wells was the owner of the Note before NWTS recorded the NOTS, NWTS knew Wells was not the owner of the Note at least 41 days before it filed the NOTS. Recording the NOTS while knowing Weels

was not the owner of the Note was a breach of NWTS's statutory duty of good faith. RCW 61.24.010(4).

C. A CENTURY OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION PRINCIPLES SUPPORT MY INTERPRETATION OF RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

No other provision of the Washington Deed of Trust Act (WDTA) negates or even modifies the language in the first sentence of .030(7)(a). As a result, the portion of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) that the first sentence represents is not subject to judicial interpretation. Its meaning must be derived from the language of the sentence, and effect must be given to the plain meaning of the language by applying the language as written. Kilian v. Atkinson, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20, 50 P.3d 638 (2002) ("If a statute is clear on its face, its meaning is to be derived from the language of the statute alone."). Cerrillo v. Esparza, 158 Wn.2d. 194, 202 (2006) ("This court does not subject an unambiguous statute to statutory construction and has "declined to add language to an unambiguous statute even if it believes the Legislature intended something else but did not adequately express it." Kilian, 147 Wn.2d at 20 (citing Keller, 143 Wn.2d at 276; Wash. State Coalition for the Homeless v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 133 Wn.2d 894, 904, 949 P.2d 1291 (1997)). "Courts may not read into a statute matters that are not in it and may not create legislation under the guise of interpreting a statute." Kilian, 147 Wn.2d at 21 (footnote omitted) (citing

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 114 Wn.2d 677, 688, 790 P.2d 604 (1990); and Associated Gen. Contractors of Wash. v. King County, 124 Wn.2d 855, 865, 881 P.2d 996 (1994)). Thus, when a statute is not ambiguous, only a plain language analysis of a statute is appropriate."); Vita Food Prods., Inc. v. State, 91 Wn.2d 132, 134, 587 P.2d 535 (1978) ("We should not and do not construe an unambiguous statute."); and Snow's Mobile Homes, Inc. v. Morgan, 80 Wn.2d 283, 494 P.2d 216 (1972) ("... where a statute is plain, unambiguous and clear on its face, there is no room for construction.")

Under these circumstances, the trial court was required to assume that the legislature meant exactly what it said. This is the first rule of judicial interpretation of a statute. *Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann*, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 329, 815 P.2d 781 (1991) ("In judicial interpretation of statutes, the first rule is 'the court should assume that the legislature means exactly what it says. Plain words do not require construction.' *Snohomish v. Joslin*, 9 Wn. App. 495, 498, 513 P.2d 293 (1973).")

The trial court was obligated to find that NWTS was required to obtain proof that the beneficiary was the owner of the promissory note before NWTS was authorized by RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) to issue the notice of trustee's sale. NWTS never obtained that proof. As a result, the NOTS

was not lawfully issued, and, under the current foreclosure proceeding, the public auction of my home cannot be preceded by at least 90 days by the lawful recording of a notice of trustee's sale, as is required by RCW 61.24.040(1)(a). Thus, the public auction of my home would be a violation of the WDTA.

- 1. Grammatical analysis of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) proves the beneficiary must provide proof it is the owner of the promissory note secured by the deed of trust.
 - a. Sentence one of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) grammatically analyzed.

The first word in the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), "That," is a relative pronoun that relates the prepositional phrase, "for residential real property," to the essential subject of the sentence, "trustee." It also relates the prepositional clause, "before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted or served," to the essential subject. The prepositional phrase and prepositional clause modify the essential subject by telling us for what type of property the trustee is required to have proof and when the trustee is required to have that proof. Thus, the complete subject of the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) is "the trustee, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted or served."

This leaves only one finite verb that is not part of the complete subject of sentence one, "shall be." "Shall be," therefore, is the essential predicate of sentence one. The direct object of the essential predicate in sentence one is the noun "proof." The clause that immediately follows the direct object, "that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust," serves as an adjective that modifies the direct object. Hence, the complete predicate for sentence one is the essential predicate, "shall have," plus all of the words that come after it in the sentence: "shall have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust."

Having grammatically de-constructed sentence one, the essential meaning of the sentence is now fully visable: the trustee (subject) shall have (essential predicate) proof (direct object of essential predicate) that the beneficiary is the owner of the promissory note secured by the deed of trust (adjectival modifier of the direct object), exactly as the unambiguous language of the sentence indicates. Because the language, and meaning of the language, is unambiguous, the trial court was required to enforce the language exactly as written. *Am. Cont'l Ins. Co. v. Steen*, 151 Wn.2d 512, 518 (2004) ("Our primary objective is to ascertain and give effect to the intent and purpose of the legislature in creating the statute. *State v. Watson*, 146 Wn.2d 947, 954, 51 P.3d 66 (2002) ("First, we attempt to derive

legislative intent from the language of the statute itself. *Id.* If the statute is clear on its face, its meaning is to be ascertained from the language of the statute alone. *Id.* Legislative definitions included in the statute are controlling. *Id.* However, in the absence of a statutory definition, we give the term its plain and ordinary meaning ascertained from a standard dictionary. *Id.*")

There is no ambiguity about the word "owner." People across the world, including very young children, know precisely what the word means. Respondent admits Wells has not been the owner of the promissory note at any time during the foreclosure proceedings.

Consequently, the trial judge was duty bound to find the NOTS had been unlawfully recorded in violation of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and was therefore a violation of NWTS's statutorily-imposed duty of good faith. Instead, on the basis of the second sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), the trial court ruled Wells was the holder of the note and Wells declaration therefore authorized NWTS to record the NOTS. As the analyses of sentence two of (7)(a) provided above and below demonstrate, the basis for the court's ruling is fatally flawed. Consequently, the ruling was erroneous and should be reversed.

b. NWTS claimed Wells' lack of ownership of the Note was irrelevant and the trial court agreed.

NWTS claimed Wells' lack of ownership of the note was irrelevant. The trial court agreed with this claim.

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