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

note). 

Indeed, "the holder of a negotiable instrument may sue thereon in 

his own name, and payment to him in due course discharges the 

instrument. It is not necessary for the holder to first establish that he has 

some beneficial interest in the proceeds." John Davis & Co. v. Cedar 

Glen No. Four, Inc., 75 Wn.2d 214, 222-23 (1969) (emphasis added, 

citation omitted). 

The DTA itself does not define the terms "owner", "holder", 

or "actual holder." 7 But the DT A does provide that: (1) the beneficiary is 

the only party entitled to remove or appoint a trustee (RCW 61.24.010(2)), 

(2) that the beneficiary, its agent, or trustee must transmit a notice of 

7 The DT A specifically excludes "investors," i. e., those with a separate contractual 
obligation relating to the Note, from the definition of "beneficiary" unless the investor 
has the right to enforce the Note in its own right. See RCW 61.24.005(2) (beneficiary 
excludes entities with an interest in Note "as security for a different obligation."). 
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default (RCW 61.24.030(8); RCW 61.24.031 (a))8, (3) that the trustee may 

rely on the beneficiary's declaration referenced in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) 

(RCW 61.24.030(7)(b)), (4) that the beneficiary must satisfy the "initial 

contact" and "due diligence" requirements under RCW 61.24.031 9, (5) the 

beneficiary must transmit a notice of trustee's sale (RCW 61.24.040), (6) 

the beneficiary may declare the trustee's sale or trustee's deed void (RCW 

61.24.050), (7) that the beneficiary may issue a credit bid at the trustee's 

sale (RCW 61.24.070), (8) that the beneficiary may not seek a deficiency 

judgment after the sale (RCW 61.24.100), (9) the beneficiary is restricted 

pursuant to RCW 61.24.140 from demanding or collecting rents from a 

tenant, and (10) the beneficiary is subject to the statutory mediation 

process under RCW 61.24.163. 

In its most recent session, the Washington Legislature considered, 

but declined to adopt, a bill that would have changed the definition of 

"beneficiary" from its current meaning of "holder" to: 

[0 Jwner of the instrument or document, including a 
promissory note, evidencing the obligations secured by the 
deed of trust, even if another party or parties are named as the 
holder, seiler, mortgagor, nominee, or agent, excluding 
persons holding the same as security for a different obligation. 

8 As part of the notice of default requirement, the beneficiary must declare the borrower 
or grantor in default and must certifY it has complied with RCW 61.24.031 and RCW 
61.24.163, if applicable. RCW 61.24.030(8), (9). 
9 RCW 61.24.031 refers to "beneficiary" forty-eight times, and not once to "owner." 
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SB 5191, § 1(1) (emphasis added). 10 

The same bill would also have required that "only the owner of the 

beneficial interest or the authorized agent of the owner of the beneficial 

interest may foreclose a deed of trust. . . . The foreclosure must be in the 

name of the owner of the beneficial interest." Id. at pp. 6-7, § 2(10). But 

SB 5191 did not leave a State Senate committee. II 

Thus, the Legislature has considered and rejected the very legal 

requirement that Trujillo now asks the Court to adopt. This Court should 

not impose a new rule of law where the Legislature has declined to do so. 

See, e.g., Salts v. Estes, 133 Wn.2d 160, 171,943 P.2d 275 (1997) (Court 

will not "transform" statutory language through judicial construction). 

Rather, courts interpreting Washington law have consistently 

found that a Note holder and Note owner are distinct legal entities. 12 For 

example, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of 

Washington recently found: 

[t]he issue of ownership, however, is largely immaterial... 
[b]ecause under Washington law the focus of the analysis is on 
who is the holder of the note, and thus the beneficiary under the 
[DT A], Plaintiff s concern should be whether he knows who to 
pay. 

10 http://apps.leg.wa.gov/documentslbilldocs/20 13-14/Pdf/Bills/Senate%20Bills/5191.pdf 
11 http://apps.leg.wa.gov/billinfo/summary.aspx?bill=5191 
12 Certainly, a Note holder can also be the owner, depending on the factual 
circumstances, but it does not follow that they must be one and the same. 
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In re Reinke, 2011 WL 5079561, *11 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. Oct. 26, 
2011), citing In re Veal, 450 B.R. 897, 912 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 2011); 
see also In re Butler, 2012 WL 8134951 (Bankr. W. D. Wash. 
Nov. 2, 2012) (rejecting plaintiffs claim "that a holder of a note 
must also prove that it is the owner of the obligation .... "). 

Furthermore, Judge Ronald Leighton of the United States District 

Court for the Western District of Washington recently dismissed an action 

that presented the same issue, finding that "courts have uniformly rejected 

that only the 'owner' of the note may enforce it." Rouse v. Wells Fargo 

Bank, NA., Case No. 13-5706-RBL (W. D. Wash. October 2,2013), citing 

Corales v. Flagstar Bank, FSB, 822 F. Supp. 2d 1102 (W. D. Wash. 

2011), Zalac v. CTX Mortg. Corp., 2013 WL 1990728 (W. D. Wash. May 

13, 2013 ) (authority to foreclose based on possession of a note indorsed in 

blank, not because of Fannie Mae's ownership interest); see also Sherman 

v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA., 2012 WL 3071246 (W. D. Wash. July 29, 

2012) (enforceability of note and deed of trust based on holder status, not 

ownership ). 

Indeed, as far back as 1918, the Supreme Court has recognized that 

the statutory rights of a negotiable instrument's holder are distinct from an 

ownership interest. State Fin. Co. v. Moore, 103 Wash. 298, 174 P. 22 

(1918). In Moore, the Court wrote: 

[s]ection 3509, Rem. & Bal. Code ... provides that a negotiable 
instrument is discharged when the debtor becomes the holder of 
the instrument at or after maturity, in his own right. 

11 



[ ... ] 

[t]he record shows that the Birches were not the holders of the 
note, but the owners thereof, and the statute grants a discharge only 
to the holder. The record further shows that the Birches became 
the owners of the note before maturity, and the statute only 
discharges the obligation when the principal debtor becomes a 
holder 'at or after maturity'. 

Id. at 301. 

Moore consequently upheld the validity of a mortgage foreclosure. Id. at 

303. 

Here, Trujillo admits that Wells Fargo had possession of the Note 

when the foreclosure process began. Compl. at ,-r 26. 13 Her principal 

contention, however, is that Fannie Mae's ownership interest should 

defeat Wells Fargo's authority - as the Note holder - to foreclose on the 

Property. Brief of Appellant at 6, 7. But although Trujillo may suggest 

that ownership is required to act as a beneficiary under the DT A, her 

position is contradicted by numerous well-reasoned case law holdings to 

the contrary. Because Wells Fargo held the Note when foreclosure 

commenced, it was therefore the beneficiary entitled to effectuate that 

process, and entitled to execute a declaration for the trustee to rely upon. 

II 

II 

13 This statement must be accepted as true for the purposes of CR 12(b )(6). 
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E. NWTS Received a Proper Declaration Before Recording 
the Notice of Trustee's Sale. 

1. Trujillo Lacks Standing to Assert that NWTS Could 
Not Rely on the Beneficiary Declaration or that 
NWTS was Improperly Appointed as the Successor 
Trustee. 

Trujillo was not a party to either the Beneficiary Declaration or the 

Appointment of Successor Trustee. CP 36, 40. She cannot permissibly 

insert herself ex post Jacto into those transactions for the purpose of 

questioning their propriety. 14 See, e.g., Brummett v. Washington's Lottery, 

171 Wn.App. 664, 678, 288 P.3d 48 (2012), Ullery v. Fulleton, 162 Wn. 

App. 596, 604, 256 P.3d 406 (2011), citing Haberman v. Wash. Pub. 

Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 138, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 

(1987); see also Osediacz v. City oj Cranston, 414 F .3d 136, 140 (15t Cir. 

2005) (there is a "general prohibition on a litigant raising another person's 

legal rights."). 

The Beneficiary Declaration was prepared and transmitted to 

NWTS in accordance with the provisions of RCW 61.24.030(7); state law 

does not mandate recording such declaration or providing a copy of it to a 

borrower. 

14 Because NWTS did not execute either document, even a purported error would not 
constitute the trustee 's failure to materially comply with the provisions of the DT A. 
Accord Walker v. Quality Loan Service Corp. , Slip Opin. No. 65975-8-1, 2013 WL 
3989666 (Aug. 5,2013). 
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The Appointment of Successor Trustee was executed by the 

beneficiary through its attorney-in-fact, and Trujillo agreed to the 

possibility of a successor trustee being appointed when she signed the 

Deed of Trust. CP 28 at ~ 24 (Deed of Trust); CP 40 (Appointment); see 

also RCW 61.24.010(2) (appointment right vested with beneficiary, i.e., 

Note holder). 

As the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 

Washington wrote in Brophy v. JPMorgan Chase Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 2013 

WL 4048535 (E. D. Wash. Aug. 9,2013): 

Plaintiff does not have standing to contest the appointment [of 
successor trustee]. Because Plaintiff is neither a party to nor a 
third-party beneficiary of this agreement, he could not have been 
injured by the alleged fraud. 

ld. at *7, citing Javaheri v. JPMorgan Chase Bank NA., 2012 WL 

3426278 (C.D. Cal., Aug. 13,2012).15 

In this case, Trujillo concedes that she agreed to the terms of the 

Note and Deed of Trust, and that she later defaulted. Brief of Appellant at 

5-6, see also Compl. at ~ 10, 17. But her claim that Wells Fargo "did not 

have the lawful authority to appoint a successor trustee" - not just 

specifically NWTS - is contradicted elsewhere in her Complaint, as she 

15 See Javaheri at *6 ("The only injury [plaintiff] alleges is the pending foreclosure on his 
home, which is the result of his default on his mortgage. The foreclosure would occur 
regardless of what entity was named as trustee, and so [plaintiff] suffered no injury as a 
result of this substitution."). 
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asserts Wells Fargo possessed the secured Note "as soon as [they] began 

the foreclosure process .... " Compare Compi. at ~ 26-28, Compi. at ~ 36. 

Thus, if Wells Fargo held the Note, then Wells Fargo was the 

beneficiary, and Wells Fargo could appoint a successor trustee and 

execute a Beneficiary Declaration. Trujillo should not be allowed to raise 

arguments against the trustee for the alleged acts of Wells Fargo - the 

undisputed beneficiary. 

2. The Beneficiary Declaration Satisfied RCW 
61.24.030(7). 

Even if the legitimacy of the Beneficiary Declaration is reached, 

Trujillo's reading of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) would vitiate the plain text of 

RCW 61.24.005(2), which defines beneficiary as the Note holder. 16 But 

such result cannot be the law, as a court must "avoid interpretations that 

yield unlikely, absurd or strained consequences." Broughton Lumber Co. 

v. Burlington N. Santa Fe Ry. Co., 174 Wn.2d 619, 625, 278 P.3d 173 

(2012). 

RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) does require a trustee to have "proof that the 

beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation 

secured by the deed of trust" before recording a Notice of Trustee's Sale. 

(Emphasis added.) However, one possible means of fully accomplishing 

16 See Brief of Appellant at 13 ("a 'declaration by the beneficiary' actually means 'a 
declaration by the owner of the Note' ."). 
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this requirement is through a declaration averring that "the beneficiary is 

the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation." Id. 

Trujillo is correct that the statute permits proof of ownership to be 

established through proof of holder status. See Brief of Appellant at 21. 

While this may be illogical, it is precisely what the Legislature deemed 

sufficient for the purpose of recording a Notice of Trustee's Sale. 

Consequently, Trujillo's argument that "courts may not read into a 

statute matters that are not in it and may not create legislation under the 

guise of interpreting a statute" directly supports a plain reading of RCW 

61.24.030(7)(a). Brief of Appellant at 16, quoting Kilian v. Atkinson, 147 

Wn.2d 16, 50 P.3d 638 (2002). Otherwise, RCW 61.24.005(2) would not 

mean what it says, and a new definition of "beneficiary" would be inferred 

despite unambiguous language in that subsection. 

As Trujillo notes, "the trial court was required to assume that the 

legislature meant exactly what it said." Brief of Appellant at 17, citing 

Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 815 P.2d 781 (1991), 

Snohomish v. Joslin, 9 Wn. App. 495, 513 P.2d 293 (1973). In construing 

RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) to mandate that a declaration from the Note holder 

provides a trustee with authority to record a Notice of Trustee's Sale, the 

trial court did exactly what Trujillo asserts it should have done, and 

without looking "outside the statute." Brief of Appellant at 27. 
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But even if the statute remained ambiguous, it would then be 

appropriate to refer to relevant case law. See Broughton Lumber Co., 

supra. at 625, citing Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 

Wn.2d 1, 9, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Federal judges that have reviewed claims 

related to RCW 61.24.030(7) uniformly agree that a declaration of holder 

status is adequate "proof' for the trustee to rely on. See, e.g., Rouse v. 

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A ., supra. at *13-14 ("Wells Fargo's declaration that 

it is the 'actual holder' meets this requirement."), Petheram v. Wells Fargo 

Bank, 2013 WL 4761049, *10 (W. D. Wash. Sept. 3, 20l3), Elene-Arp v. 

Fed. Home Fin. Agency, 2013 WL 1898218 (W. D. Wash. May 6, 20l3) 

("[a]1though there are probably many ways to satisfy the statute's proof 

requirement, the statute itself establishes one way."), Abram v. Wachovia 

Mortg., 2013 WL 1855746 (W. D. Wash. Apr. 30, 20l3), Beaton v. 

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A ., 2013 WL 1282225 (W. D. Wash. Mar. 25, 

20 l3). Ifthere is a question about the construction of RCW 6l.24.030(7), 

then this Court should likewise adopt the same outcome. 

3. Reliance on the Beneficiary Declaration Did Not 
Create a Lack of Good Faith. 

It is circular reasoning for Trujillo to argue that NWTS' reliance 

on Wells Fargo's Beneficiary Declaration created the very lack of good 

faith that would lead to an inability to rely on the same Declaration. See 
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Brief of Appellant at 15. 

RCW 61.24.030(7)(b) states, "unless the trustee has violated his or 

her duty under RCW 61.24.010(4), the trustee is entitled to rely on the 

beneficiary's declaration as evidence of proof required under this 

subsection." (Emphasis added). It would be "too great a demand" for a 

trustee to "conduct a secondary investigation into the papers filed by the 

beneficiary." Mickelson v. Chase Home Fin. LLC, 2011 WL 5553821 (W. 

D. Wash. Nov. 14, 2011); accord Badgett v. Security State Bank, 116 

Wn.2d 563, 807 P.2d 356, 360 (1991) (a duty of good faith "requires only 

that the parties perform in good faith the obligations imposed by their 

agreement."). 

Trujillo's Complaint fails to identify any specific violation of 

NWTS' duty of good faith besides the reliance on Wells Fargo's accurate 

representation of its authority as Note holder. Compl. at 7, ~ 30. 

Trujillo's comment that NWTS lacked a Beneficiary Declaration prior to 

issuing the Notice of Default is immaterial; RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) only 

directs the receipt of the requisite proof prior to the Notice of Trustee's 

Sale. See Brief of Appellant at 15. 

Trujillo's Complaint also raises an argument she now abandons on 

appeal; namely, that NWTS could not issue a Notice of Default until being 

appointed as the successor trustee. Compl. at 6, ~ 30. 
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First, this statement is incorrect, as NWTS was allowed by statute 

to act as Wells Fargo's agent prior to becoming trustee. Cf RCW 

61.24.031(l)(a) (requirements before "[a] trustee, beneficiary, or 

authorized agent" can "issue a notice of default under RCW 

61.24.030(8) .... ") (emphasis added). 17 

Second, Trujillo's Complaint openly states that NWTS "was 

legally appointed the successor trustee." Compl. at 7, ,-r 30; see also 

Compl. at ,-r 20. NWTS could only become "legally appointed" if the 

lawful beneficiary made the appointment. RCW 61.24.010(2). Since 

Trujillo also agrees that Wells Fargo was the entity that appointed NWTS, 

Trujillo unavoidably concedes Wells Fargo's proper authority to foreclose 

as the beneficiary. See Compl. at,-r 20; see also CP 40 (Appointment). As 

such, the predicate assumption for claiming a lack of good faith, i.e., 

"knowing" Wells Fargo was unable to enforce the obligation, is not 

supported by Trujillo's own allegations that should be accepted as true. 

Id., cf Brief of Appellant at 15. 

The absence of an identifiable fact signifying bad faith, combined

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